SUPREME COURT FILED

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

JUL - 6 2015

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

Deputy

CHRISTOPHER MENDOZA, an individual, on behalf of himself and all other persons similarly situated Plaintiff-Appellant-Petitioner

> MEAGAN GORDON Plaintiff-Intervenor-Petitioner

> > v.

NORDSTROM, INC., a Washington Corporation authorized to do business in the State of California Defendant-Appellee-Respondent

> After a Request by the Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals Case Nos. 12-57130 consolidated with 12-57144

PLAINTIFF-APPELLANT-PETITIONER'S **OPENING BRIEF**

ANDRÉ E. JARDINI (Bar No. 71335) aej@kpclegal.com K.L. MYLES (Bar No. 243272) klm@kpclegal.com

INTRODUCTION

Appellant Christopher Mendoza ("Mendoza") is pursuing this action under the California Private Attorneys General Act ("PAGA"), codified in California Labor Code sections 2698-2699.3, on behalf of current and former hourly-paid California employees of Respondent Nordstrom, Inc. ("Nordstrom") who worked more than six consecutive days in violation of California's one day's rest in seven statutes, California Labor Code sections 551-558.¹

II.

CERTIFIED QUESTIONS PRESENTED

On February 19, 2015, pursuant to California Rules of Court, Rule 8.548, the United States Court of Appeals for the Ninth Circuit requested that this Court grant review of the following questions:

(A) California Labor Code section 551 provides that "[e]very person employed in any occupation of labor is entitled to one day's rest therefrom in seven." Is the required day of rest calculated by the workweek, or is it calculated on a rolling basis for any consecutive seven-day period?

¹ Herein California Labor Code section 551 and 552 shall be known as the "Day of Rest" statute.

- (B) California Labor Code section 556 exempts employers from providing such a day of rest "when the total hours of employment do not exceed 30 hours in any week or six hours in any one day thereof"

 (Emphasis added.) Does that exemption apply when an employee works less than six hours in any one day of the applicable week, or does it apply only when an employee works less than six hours in each day of the week?
- (C) California Labor Code section 552 provides that an employer may not "cause his employees to work more than six days in seven." What does it mean for an employer to "cause" an employee to work more than six days in seven: force, coerce, pressure, schedule, encourage, reward, permit, or something else?

III.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

- 1. The claim being litigated in this lawsuit is Mendoza's PAGA claim that Nordstrom violated the day of rest statutes when Nordstrom scheduled and permitted employees such as Mendoza to work more than six consecutive days. (ER01790)
- 2. Nordstrom has never had a policy making one day of rest in seven available to California employees. (ER01114 lines 7-9)
- 3. Nordstrom has never had any formal policy regarding the implementation of the day of rest statutes. (ER01047) (ER01049) (ER01091-ER01093) (ER01095) (ER01099-ER01100) (ER01113-

ER01115) (ER02228-ER02278, p. 25:14-20)

- 4. Mendoza worked for Nordstrom from March 30, 2007, through August 13, 2009. (ER01788-ER01874)
- Mendoza was a full-time employee at Nordstrom in
 California. (ER01282 line, 25) (ER01283 line 1-13) (ER01292, line 10-12,
 22-24)
- 6. On three occasions, Mendoza worked more than six consecutive days²:
 - a. Mendoza worked more than six consecutive days from
 January 26, 2009, through February 5, 2009. During
 this period, Mendoza worked 11 consecutive days.
 - Mendoza worked more than six consecutive days from
 March 23, 2009, through March 29, 2009. During this
 period, Mendoza worked seven consecutive days.
 - c. Mendoza worked more than six consecutive days was from March 31, 2009, through April 7, 2009. During this period, Mendoza worked eight consecutive days.

(ER03783-ER03784) (ER03789) (ER03794-ER03795)

7. Nordstrom encouraged and pressured Mendoza to work more

² There is no dispute as to the dates and times worked by Mendoza.

than six consecutive days. (ER01311 line 16-19, 4-9) (ER01287 lines 10-19) (ER00893-ER00915) (ER01336 lines 3-10) (ER00893-ER00915 at pp. 7-11) (ER01339 lines 18-24) (ER00893-ER00915 at pp.5-6) (ER01478 line 15-ER01479 line 2) (ER01026 lines 11-18) (ER01287 line 21-25) (ER-ER01288 line 1-9, 14-21) (ER01286 line 23-ER01287 line 4) (ER01300 lines 4-10)

- 8. Nordstrom has ultimate control over employee schedules and the days they work. (ER01286 line 13-19) (ER01292 lines 2-9) (ER01301 lines 21-25) (ER01029 lines 1-12, 19-21) (ER1030 lines 1-17) (ER001489 lines 14-22)
- 9. There is no evidence in the record that Mendoza ever knew that he was statutorily entitled to one day of rest in seven.
- 10. There is no evidence that information about an employee's right to take one day of rest in seven was ever disseminated to Nordstrom's employees.
- 11. Nordstrom produced time punch data for California employees from the time period of December 22, 2008, to November 19, 2011. (ER02496) (ER02507) (ER02091-ER02099, p. 2-3) The start of this time period represents the start of the statute of limitations period. The end of this time period represents a self-selected date by Nordstrom. Nordstrom has the ability to produce more current data, but declined to do so. (ER02904 lines14-16) (ER01930 lines 2-15) (ER02762-ER02771)

(ER01099 lines 8-14)

- 12. Based on Nordstrom's production of time punch data, Nordstrom's expert concluded that employees worked more than six consecutive days on 26,002 occasions between December 22, 2008, to November 19, 2011. (ER02084-ER02106 at paragraph 12)
- 13. Based on Nordstrom's production of time punch data, Mendoza's expert concluded that employees worked more than six consecutive days on 9,573 occasions between December 22, 2008, to November 19, 2011, where each day worked was over six hours. (ER00263-ER00491 at paragraphs 3 and 4)
- 14. Nordstrom produced some time schedules for employees who fell within the statute of limitations for the day of rest claims. (ER00494, paragraph 7) (ER00517-ER00518) (ER00521-ER00522) (ER00525-ER00526) (ER00551) (ER00576) (ER00584) (ER00586) (ER00591)
- by Nordstrom, employees were scheduled by Nordstrom to work more than six consecutive days and did, in fact, work more than six consecutive days as scheduled. (ER00517-ER00518) (ER00521-ER00522) (ER00525-ER00526) (ER00551) (ER00576) (ER00584) (ER00586) (ER00591)
- 16. Mendoza satisfied the requisite PAGA notice requirements prior to commencing his lawsuit as a PAGA representative. (ER03676-ER03677)

IV.

PROCEDURAL HISTORY

On December 22, 2009, Mendoza brought suit against Nordstrom alleging, among other claims,³ violations of California's day of rest statutes, California Labor Code sections 551 and 552. (ER03800-ER03966)

On May 13, 2011, the district court issued an order denying

Nordstrom's motion for summary judgment as to Mendoza's day of rest

claims. At this early point, the district court in this case considered whether

the statutorily mandated day of rest could be waived, finding:

In addition, Nordstrom argues that it is not liable for violations of §§ 551 and 552 since it did not "cause" Mr. Mendoza to work more than six days in seven because he voluntarily chose³ to work in excess of six consecutive days. See Cal. Lab. Code § 552 (prohibiting employers from "caus[ing] [their] employees to work more than six days in seven"). Nordstrom relies on a dictionary that defines cause as compelling by command, authority, or force. Accordingly, Nordstrom reasons that "employees have a right to be furnished with one day's rest in seven, but can choose to waive or forgo that right and work extra shifts without triggering any statutory violation." Mem. P. & A. Supp. Mot. at 12. As an initial matter, §§ 551, 552, and other related sections do not indicate that employees can waive this protection or that employers can bargain with employees to obtain such waivers. Compare Cal. Lab. Code § 551 (entitling employee to one day's rest in seven), and id. § 552

³ All other claims alleged by Mendoza in the complaint were resolved by summary judgment.

(prohibiting employer from causing employee to work more than six days in seven), with id. § 512 (permitting, in certain circumstances, waiver of the requirement that an employer provide employees with meal periods where the meal period is "waived by mutual consent of both the employer and employee"). This interpretation would also undermine a fundamental principle underlying these statutes. Indeed, the legislature has provided certain protections to employees based on the understanding that employers often have disproportionate bargaining power and can, in the absence of limitations, wield that power to coerce employees into unfair or undesirable labor arrangements. 4 See Murphy v. Kenneth Cole Prods., Inc. 40 Cal. 4th 1094, 1111 (2007) (explaining that "statutes regulating conditions of employment are to be liberally construed with an eye to protecting employees"). The protections provided in §§ 551 and 552 would mean far less if employers could routinely exert pressure on employees to "choose" to waive those protections. The Court agrees with Mr. Mendoza that the better interpretation of the statute is that it holds employers accountable when they cause either in the sense of requiring or permitting-employees to work seven consecutive days.

(Footnotes excluded; underlined emphasis added; ER03175-ER03332 at p. 7-8.)

On June 23, 2011, the district court denied Nordstrom's motion for modification or clarification and denied Nordstrom's motion to certify the issue for appeal, noting "The voluntariness of Mr. Mendoza's work was irrelevant in light of the Court's holding that 'the statute . . . holds employers accountable when they cause – either in the sense of requiring or permitting – employees to work seven consecutive days." (ER03111-

ER03114 at p. 3:13-16)

On June 14, 2012, at the final status conference, the district court noted: "There are certain issues that I don't think need evidence, such as the interpretation of 552, whether it's a defined work week or not, whether an employee can waive the rest day." (ER01687)

The district court determined that the best course of action for adjudicating this matter was to try Mendoza's and plaintiff-intervenor's cases individually. (ER01743-ER01744)

The court conducted an abbreviated two day bench trial on June 19 and June 21, 2012.

Before trial began on June 19, 2012, the district court discussed logistical issues with Mendoza's counsel, including issues about the adequacy of Mendoza as a representative and the availability of other witnesses or potential representatives to step forward and testify at trial about the circumstances and conditions under which they worked more than six consecutive days. (ER01274 line 16-ER01274 line 9) (ER01276 line 22-ER01277 line 12). The district court stated:

I can assure you that no matter what I do with respect to Mr. Mendoza and Ms. Gordon, even assuming for argument sake that I agreed with Nordstrom on these issues, I'm not going to dismiss the case. What I would do, even in that worse case scenario for you, we would have a status conference and then you would let me know, respond to these issues and then we'll figure out where we're going to go from here.

(ER01277 lines 14-20)

Despite these previous rulings and statements, on September 21, 2012, the district court issued a Memorandum of Decision finding in favor of Nordstrom. (ER00677-ER00700) The district court found, for the first time, that the statute providing one day of rest in seven could be waived and Mendoza had waived it. The district court also found that employees who worked less than six hours any on any day in the relevant seven or more consecutive days would be exempted from being provided one day of rest in seven. Based on the hours Mendoza worked, the district court found that Nordstrom was exempt from providing Mendoza with one day of rest in seven on each of the three occasions where Mendoza worked more than six consecutive days.

The district court ordered Mendoza to show good cause why the action should proceed. (ER00676) The district court did not have a status conference.

Mendoza filed a response to the Order to Show Cause in which Mendoza identified other potential representatives, including one who Mendoza's counsel offered to put on at trial, and who fit the parameters of the district court's interpretation of the sections 551-558, including employees who were scheduled to work more than six consecutive days. Mendoza's expert counted 9,573 occasions where employees worked more than six days where each day worked was more than six hours. (ER00648-

ER00675) (ER00492-ER00647) (ER00009-ER00014)

On November 5, 2012, the district court found that Mendoza and plaintiff-intervenor, as individuals, no longer had viable claims or controversies and dismissed the entire representative action. (ER0006-ER00008)

On November 26, 2012, Mendoza filed a notice of appeal. (ER00001-ER00005)

On June 21, 2013, Mendoza filed his opening brief with the Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals.

On August 21, 2013, Nordstrom filed its answering brief.

On September 27, 2013, Mendoza filed his reply brief.

On December 12, 2015, the matter was argued and submitted to the Ninth Circuit.

On February 19, 2015, the Ninth Circuit issued an order certifying three questions to this Court.

On April 29, 2015, this Court granted the Ninth Circuit's request.

V.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Mendoza seeks review of the district court's interpretation of the California Labor Code sections 500 – 558. The interpretation of these statutes is a matter of first impression in California.

As California Labor Code section 551 provides that "[e]very person employed in any occupation of labor is entitled to one day's rest therefrom in seven," the required day of rest should be calculated on a rolling basis for any consecutive seven day period.

As California Labor Code section 556 exempts employers from providing such a day of rest "when the total hours of employment do not exceed 30 hours in any week or six hours in any one day thereof," an exemption should apply only to a part-time employee who works less than six hours in each day of the week. This exemption should not apply to an employee who works less than six hours on only one day in the week.

As California Labor Code section 552 provides that an employer may not "cause his employees to work more than six days in seven," an employer should be prohibited from forcing, coercing, demanding, pressuring, scheduling, soliciting, suggesting, encouraging, rewarding, incentivizing or permitting an employee to work more than six or more consecutive days.

VI.

ARGUMENT

A. Question One: Is The Day Of Rest Statute To Be Calculated Based On Any Consecutive Seven-Day Period

Compliance with California Labor Code §§ 551 and 552 should be measured by the number of consecutive days an employee works, not how

many consecutive days were worked within an employer defined workweek.

1. Statutory Interpretation

"The starting point for [the] interpretation of a statute is always its language," *Community for Creative Non-Violence v. Reid* (1989) 490 U.S. 730, 739 [109 S.Ct. 2166]). Under California law, the interpretation of the statute begins with the text of the statute. (*People v. Scott* (Cal. 2014) 324 P.3d 827, 829.) "[C]ourts must presume that a legislature says in a statute what it means and means in a statute what it says there," *Connecticut Nat'l Bank v. Germain* (1992) 503 U.S. 249, 253-254 [112 S.Ct. 1146]. "Judicial inquiry must cease if the statutory language is unambiguous and "the statutory scheme is coherent and consistent." (*Robinson v. Shell Oil Co.* (1997) 519 U.S. 337, 340 [117 S.Ct. 843, 846] [136 L.Ed.2d 808], citing *United States v. Ron Pair Enterprises, Inc.* (1989) 489 U.S. 235, 240 [109 S.Ct. 1026, 1030 [103 L.Ed.2d 290].)

2. The Language Of The Day Of Rest Statutes Is Clear And Unambiguous

Plain language prevails in the day of rest statutes. California Labor Code Sections 551 and 552 read as follows:

California Labor Code section 551 titled "One day's rest in seven:"
"Every person employed in any occupation of labor is entitled to one day's rest therefrom in seven."

California Labor Code section 552 titled "Maximum consecutive working days:" "No employer of labor shall cause his employees to work more than six days in seven."

In considering the question whether workers were entitled to one day of rest every seven consecutive days or one day of rest during every employer defined workweek, the district court noted:

Nordstrom's attempt to insert ambiguity and an absent, defined term into section 552 fails. It asserts that, to evaluate an employer's compliance with California Labor Code sections 551 and 552, "courts must look to the defined, fixed seven-day workweek, not a rolling period." Mem. P. & A. Supp. Mot. At 7. Nordstrom therefore contends that "under the plain language [of sections 551 and 552], a violation only occurs if an employee works more than six days in a workweek." Id. at 6. If this interpretation was accepted, Nordstrom would not violate the statute unless it caused an employee to work Sunday through Saturday, which is its defined workweek. By this reasoning, Nordstrom argues that Mendoza working as many as eleven consecutive days in 2009 did not violate sections 551 and 552 because he received at least one day off during each of the relevant workweeks. Although Nordstrom is correct that section 500(b) defines "workweek" and "week" as "any seven consecutive days, starting with the same calendar day each week," California Labor Code section 500(b), neither term appears anywhere in section 551 and 552. Given that the legislature specifically defined "workweek" and "week," the absence of these terms from sections 551 and 552 significantly undermines Nordstrom's position. See California Civil Procedure

Code section 1858 (advising courts construing statutes to "ascertain and declare what is in terms or in substance contained therein, [and] not to insert what has been omitted, or to omit what has been inserted"); (Neumarkel v. Allard (1985) 163 Cal.App.3d 457, 461.) FN2

FN2 Nordstrom makes an additional argument that sections 551 and 552 must be read harmoniously with section 556, which provides that sections 551 and 552 do "not apply to any employer or employee when the total hours of employment do not exceed 30 hours in any week or six hours in any one day thereof." California Labor Code section 556 (emphasis added). It argues section 556's invocation of the defined term "week" requires sections 551 and 552's references to seven days to also be interpreted to mean "workweek" or "week" as defined in section 500(b). But the Court will not import defined terms from the one section into another, especially here where doing so would alter the plain and clear wording that exists in sections 551 and 552.

(ER02624-ER02625)

On this issue, the district court eventually found:

The plain and clear purpose of sections 551 and 552 is to prevent an employer from requiring its employee to work more than six consecutive days. Nothing in the day of rest statutes indicates that the California Legislature intended to limit the period during which the days must be consecutively worked. Mendoza worked on one occasion for eleven consecutive days. If Nordstrom's interpretation were adopted, an employer could require an employee like Mendoza to work these

demanding hours, give him a day off, and then force him to work another eleven consecutive days. This unconscionable one day's rest in 12 work schedule could be repeated in perpetuity. The California Legislature surely never intended to provide such a loophole or invite such employer abuse.

(ER00685, p. 9:1-4)

a. The Word "Workweek" Does Not Appear In Either California Labor Code Section 551 or 552

It is "... well settled that the court is without power to supply an omission." (Estate of Pardue (1937) 22 Cal.App.2d 178, 180–181, [70 P.2d 678].) Neither California Labor Code section 551 nor California Labor Code section 552 incorporates the word "workweek." It would be inappropriate to import or graft the omitted word "workweek" into these statutes. See, California Code of Civil Procedure section 1858. It would be equally inappropriate to seek to interpret these day of rest statutes by relying on other statutes which do include the word "workweek."

The evolution of the statutes at issue here is illuminating. California Labor Code sections 500 et seq. underwent a thorough revision in 1999 following the introduction of AB 60 titled "The Eight-Hour-Day Restoration and Workplace Flexibility Act of 1999." 1999 Cal. Legis. Serv. Ch. 134 (A.B. 60). (ER03353-ER03363) AB 60 sought to amend sections 510, 554, 556, and 1182.1 of the California Labor Code and to add sections

500, 511, 512, 513, 514, 515, 516, 517, and 558. Id.⁴

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