#### Supreme Court Case No. S224611

RUPREME COURT

#### IN THE SUPREME COURT

**3** 2015 SEP

#### OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

Frank A. McGuire (Lien)

CHRISTOPHER MENDOZA, an individual, on behalf of himself and all other persons similarly situated. Plaintiff-Appellant-Petitioner;

Deput,

MEAGAN GORDON, Plaintiff-Intervenor-Petitioner;

v.

NORDSTROM, INC., a Washington Corporation authorized to do business in the State of California, Defendant-Appellee-Respondent.

After a Request by the Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals Consolidated Nos. 12-57130 and 12-57144

### RESPONDENT NORDSTROM, INC.'S

#### ANSWERING BRIEF

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

Petitioners' contention that "cause" means "permit" is also at odds with the common understanding of the word "permit." "Permitting" conduct is not the same as "causing" it. "Permit" connotes *a lack of* action, whereas "cause" connotes *active conduct* aimed at achieving (or compelling) a particular result. *Compare* RJN, Exs. 13 (American Heritage Dictionary (2015), defining "cause": "To be the cause of or *reason for*; result in" and "To *bring about or compel by authority or force*" (emphasis

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>86</sup> See MOB, pp.32-33 (suggesting a definition of "cause" that includes to "schedule [regardless of the reason]...suggest, encourage, reward, incentivize or permit"); GOB, p.22 (asserting that "allowing" an employee to work a seventh day is the same as "causing" work on a seventh day).

added)) with 20 (same source defining "permit": (1) "To allow the doing of (something); consent to"; (2) "To grant consent or leave to (someone); authorize"; and (3) "To afford opportunity; allow: if circumstances permit").

Gordon provides a definition of "cause" from the 1891 Black's Law Dictionary, which defines the term, in part, as "that which produces an effect; whatever moves, impels or leads." 87 This definition comports precisely with Nordstrom's interpretation of the word—an employer must engage in active conduct in order to "cause" an employee to work through a rest day. Neither the Black's definition nor any other authority cited by Petitioners supports their assertion that "cause" includes passive conduct such as to allow or permit. Indeed, Gordon omits the remaining portion of the Black's definition, which states: "The civilians use the term 'cause,' in relation to obligations, in the same sense as the word 'consideration' is used in the jurisprudence of England and the United States. It means the motive, the inducement to the agreement[.]" Black's Law Dictionary 181 (1st ed. 1891), available at: http://blacks.worldfreemansociety.org/1/C/c-0181.jpg (emphasis added).

Petitioners' tortured logic why "permit" and "cause" are the same therefore defies common sense and ignores the plain meaning of both terms. *See People v. Davis*, 68 Cal.2d 481, 483 (1968) ("statutes are to be

 $<sup>^{87}</sup>$  GOB, p.23 (emphasis added.) .

given a reasonable and common sense construction which will render them valid and operative rather than defeat them").

#### B. The Statutory Framework Confirms Employees May Choose To Work Through Rest Days

## 1. The Statutory Framework Emphasizes The Importance Of Employee Flexibility

The statutory framework within which Sections 551 and 552 appear confirms an employer's duty is only to make rest days available, not to force employees to take them. *Securitas Sec. Servs. USA, Inc. v. Super. Ct.*, 197 Cal.App.4th 115, 121 (2011) (a statute must be construed "in the context of...the entire scheme of law of which it is a part").

Sections 551 and 552 fall within the statutes adopted in the Eight-Hour-Day Restoration and *Workplace Flexibility Act*. 88 RJN, Ex. 30. As its title suggests, the Act's purpose was to ensure flexibility in scheduling work. Indeed, the Statement as to the Basis for the current Wage Order 7 discusses the Act's focus on, and the DLSE's interest in, providing flexibility to employees: "in the interest of...greater *flexibility*"; "After receiving testimony and correspondence from...employers who sought *flexibility* in work schedules"; "The IWC received several inquiries concerning *flexibility* for employees switching alternative workweek options"; "In order to provide *flexibility* in accommodating the personal

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>88</sup> Petitioners conveniently ignore the second half of the Act's title. *See* MOB, pp.17-19; GOB, p.12. AB60's purpose was not just to restore daily overtime—it was also to ensure flexibility for scheduling work.

needs of employees, the IWC further clarified that employers may grant employee requests to switch...shifts on an occasional basis"; "These employees also emphasized the need for *flexibility* in work scheduling...." RJN, Ex. 42, pp.7-9 (emphasis added).

The Legislature's intent to provide employers and employees flexibility in managing work schedules is readily apparent in reading the statutory chapter in which Sections 551 and 552 appear. Throughout the chapter, a pattern exists wherein the Legislature first establishes a legal obligation and then provides flexibility in applying the obligation. For example, Section 510 requires employers to pay daily overtime when an employee works over eight hours in a workday. Then:

- Section 511 permits employees to choose to work an alternative workweek schedule, such as four 10-hour days, without imposing daily overtime obligations on the employer.
- Section 513 *permits employees to choose* to work over eight hours on one day of the workweek in order to take time off on another day of the workweek to attend to personal obligations, again, without imposing daily overtime obligations on the employer.

Similarly, Section 512 of this chapter requires employers to provide meal periods, but the statute permits employees to choose whether to actually take the breaks provided. *Brinker*, 53 Cal.4th at 1037, 1040-41

(compliance turns on whether employer provided a bona fide opportunity to take breaks).

This same flexibility applies to the rest day laws. Sections 551 and 552 require employers to furnish employees with a day of rest, but allow employees to choose whether to work on the designated rest day. Other provisions of the chapter confirm this interpretation. For example, Section 510 expressly contemplates that employees may choose to work on the seventh day of a workweek by providing overtime premiums for such work. Cal. Lab. Code §510; Cal. Code Regs., tit.8, §11070(3)(A)(1) ("Employment beyond eight (8) hours in any workday or more than six (6) days in any workweek is permissible provided the employee is compensated for such overtime....") As noted above, it would be irrational for the Legislature to provide overtime premiums for a "seventh day of work" if the very same statutory chapter made it a criminal act to permit employees to work a seventh day. See Singh, 140 Cal.App.4th at 400 (the Legislature "is presumed to know existing law").

The only way to harmonize the chapter's seventh day premium provisions with the rest day provisions is to find that an employee may choose to work through his/her rest day after the employer has made it available.

# 2. Applying A Definition Of "Cause" That Limits Employees' Flexibility Would Undermine The Legislature's Intent And Employee Interests

The statutory framework surrounding the rest day laws also refutes Petitioners' rigid definition of "cause," which would prohibit employers from ever granting an employee's request to work a seventh day even if the employee voluntarily requested the additional work. Such a result would diminish employee rights and worker flexibility, which is the antithesis of what the Legislature intended.

Brinker acknowledged the obligation to interpret employment laws in accordance with the public policy underlying the statutory scheme and in a manner that protects employees. Still, this Court held a "make available" standard for meal periods was in the employees' best interests and a standard that forced employees to take meal periods was not. Brinker, 53 Cal.4th at 1026-27, 1038-41. 89 In doing so, the Court recognized that forcing an employee to take a break violates the public policy supporting employee choice and flexibility in the workplace. See id. Accordingly, Brinker held that once an employer provides the opportunity for a break,

Petitioners argue the rest day laws must be interpreted more stringently than the meal period laws because a violation of Sections 551 and 552 gives rise to a PAGA penalty claim and constitutes a misdemeanor. (MOB, pp.42-46.) However, violating the meal period laws triggers PAGA penalties and constitutes a misdemeanor as well. See Cal. Lab. Code §§ 2699.5 (stating violations of Sections 512, 551 and 552 can give rise to a PAGA claim) and 553 (declaring any violation of the chapter, which includes §512 and not just §§ 551 and 552, a misdemeanor). Thus, the two laws should be interpreted the same way.

there is no liability to an employee who voluntarily chooses to work instead. *Id.* at 1026-27, 1038-41.

Brinker's rationale applies equally to the rest day statutes. The employer must provide rest days, but the employee is free to choose to take the rest day or not. If an employee wants to work more to earn more money, guarantee eligibility for benefits or rearrange his/her schedule for personal needs, public policy—as evidenced in the statutory framework of the Eight-Hour-Day Restoration and Workplace Flexibility Act—allows him/her to do so.

As illustration, consider the employee referenced by Mendoza as having been scheduled for over six consecutive days, Employee No. 703595. That employee worked seven consecutive days from a Thursday to a Thursday. In doing so, the employee accumulated four rest days the following Friday, Saturday, Sunday and Monday. The employee then took paid time off on the following Tuesday, Wednesday and Thursday: 91

Sun.	Mon.	Tues.	Wed.	Thurs.	Fri.	Sat.
7.5 hrs	7.5 hrs	Off	Off	7.19 hrs	7.25 hrs	7.04 hrs
7 hrs	7.17 hrs	7.11 hrs	7.32 hrs	7.12 hrs	Off	Off
Off	Off	Vacation	Vacation	Vacation		

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>90</sup> MOB, p.64; MER00589-591.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>91</sup> Id

While Mendoza uses this as an example of Nordstrom "overworking" employees, it is at least equally likely this employee requested to be scheduled for seven consecutive days across two different workweeks in order to enlarge her paid vacation, all while taking two rest days each workweek. Under Petitioners' interpretation of "cause," this employee would not have the flexibility to trade shifts in order to expand her vacation.

Likewise, here, Mendoza admittedly voluntarily sought out additional shifts because he wanted to make more money and guarantee eligibility for health benefits. He announced to coworkers and managers he wanted extra shifts and that he alone would decide whether to accept them. *Mendoza*, 2012 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 188379, at \*4-5, \*23-24. Regarding Gordon, the trial court never found she worked a seventh consecutive day—even if she had, it would only have been on a single occasion due to her voluntary, personal choice to trade shifts with a co-worker. *Id.* at \*8.

To allow Petitioners to assert a violation of the law—and indeed a criminal act—because they were permitted to work the schedule they desired would allow them to generate liability by manipulating the flexibility granted by Nordstrom for their benefit. As this Court recognized in *Brinker*, California law does not permit such a result. *See Brinker*, 53 Cal. 4th at 1040-41 ("employees cannot manipulate the flexibility granted them by employers...to generate [] liability").

While Nordstrom acknowledges an employer may not require or actively encourage employees to work a seventh day in a workweek, the trial court's factual findings make clear that was not the case here. Indeed, as Petitioners note, the trial court recognized the "opportunity for mischief" and the dangers in "overwork" implicit in allowing employees to choose to work over six consecutive days. 92 But the trial court nevertheless found Nordstrom did not "either explicitly or implicitly" encourage or require Petitioners to work over six consecutive days. Mendoza, 2012 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 188379, at \*23-29, \*32. Other trial courts can and should be empowered to make this same determination—i.e., whether an employee's work on a seventh day was voluntary or required/coerced—based on facts of each case. Accordingly, Petitioners' interpretation requiring forcible rest days would be contrary to the statutory structure surrounding Sections 551 and 552, which emphasizes workplace flexibility and protecting employees, rather than imposing rigid limitations on their personal choices.

# C. The Regulatory History Of Rest Day Laws Confirms Employees May Choose To Work On Their Designated Rest Day

The regulatory history of the mercantile wage order similarly confirms employees may choose to work through a rest day designated by their employer. *See Brinker*, 53 Cal.4th at 1035 (looking to wage order

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>92</sup> MOB, p.47.

history to define the employer's meal period obligations in the same statutory chapter).

As noted above, California first commissioned the wage orders in 1916 to provide greater protections for women and minors than those afforded to men. See, e.g., Indus. Welfare Comm'n v. Super. Ct., 27 Cal.3d 690, 700 (1980). At the time the wage orders were first implemented, the rest day statutes already required employers to provide at least one day of rest each workweek. Still, they did not prohibit employers from permitting employees to choose to work all seven days of the week. In contrast, the original wage orders did prohibit employers from permitting women and children to work seven days a week: "[No employer] shall employ or suffer or permit a woman or minor to work in the mercantile industry more than eight hours in any one day or more than forty-eight hours in any week [i.e., more than six days a week]." RJN, Ex. 31 §7 (1917 wage order) (emphasis added). In 1943, this prohibition was strengthened:

Every woman and minor *shall have* one day's rest in seven. Sunday shall be considered the established day of rest....

RJN, Ex. 35 §3(c) (1943 wage order); RJN, Ex. 28 p.8 ("many of the new [wage] orders...call for one day of rest in seven for women and minors, with no exemptions") (emphasis added). Modifications to the wage orders in 1947-1963 created exceptions to the rest day provisions for women and minors, but retained the same mandate that no woman or minor "shall be

employed ... more than six(6) days in any one week..." See RJN, Ex. 39 §3; see also RJN 36-38, §3.

Then, in 1968 and 1976, when the wage order finally became applicable to *all employees*, the *mandatory rest day language was eliminated* and the "permissible" standard that the rest day laws have always provided, was added: "*Employment beyond* eight (8) hours in any workday or more than *six* (6) days in any workweek is permissible provided the employee is compensated for such overtime[.]" Cal. Code Regs., tit.8, §11070(3)(A) (emphasis added); RJN, Exs. 40-41; *c.f.* RJN, Exs. 32-39 (1917-1963 wage orders); *Brinker*, 53 Cal.4th at 1027 (wage orders are entitled to "extraordinary deference").

The rest day statutes, which predate the wage orders, have never contained an absolute prohibition on working more than six days. Rather, from 1893 to today, the rest day statutes have had the same core language: an employee is "entitled" to a rest day and no employer shall "cause" an employee to work more than six consecutive days. RJN, Exs. 21-23, 29; Cal. Lab. Code §§551-552. If the rest day statutes already prohibited work on more than six consecutive days for all employees, it would have been completely unnecessary to create greater protections for women and minors in the early wage orders. *See Agnew*, 21 Cal.4th at 330 (courts should avoid a construction that renders language in statutes meaningless). Petitioners' interpretation is therefore inconsistent with the regulatory

history surrounding the rest day statutes. See Coca-Cola Co. v. St. Bd. of Equalization, 25 Cal.2d 918, 921 (1945) ("the contemporaneous administrative construction of [a statute] by those charged with its enforcement and interpretation is entitled to great weight, and courts generally will not depart from such construction unless it is clearly erroneous or unauthorized").

Petitioners argue the wage order's language permitting work on more than six consecutive days applies only when exceptions to the rest day rules exist. <sup>93</sup> However, there is no such limitation in Wage Order 7. Instead, it expressly states employment beyond six days in a workweek is "permissible," without any caveats. Cal. Code Regs., tit.8, §11070(3)(A).

Petitioners also urge the Court to disregard Wage Order 7 because if there is conflict between a wage order and the Labor Code, the Labor Code controls. But there is no conflict. Both state it is permissible for an employee to work a seventh day if the employee receives overtime. Cal. Code Regs., tit.8, § 11070(3)(A); Cal. Lab. Code §510. Thus, interpreting the rest day statutes to prohibit employees from voluntarily deciding to work more than six consecutive days would contradict Sections 510, 551, 552 and Wage Order 7.

Petitioners further argue the definition of "employ" means anytime an employee arrives to work, Nordstrom "caused" that employee to work.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>93</sup> MOB, pp.41-42.

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